
45 

Federal Crop Insurance Corporation, USDA § 400.454 

Courts may be sought, unless review is 
specifically required by statute. 

§ 400.454 Disqualification and civil 
fines. 

(a) Before any disqualification or 
civil fine is imposed, FCIC will provide 
the affected participants and other per-
sons with notice and an opportunity for 
a hearing on the record in accordance 
with 7 CFR part 1, subpart H. 

(1) Proceedings will be initiated when 
the Manager of FCIC files a complaint 
with the Hearing Clerk, United States 
Department of Agriculture. 

(2) Disqualifications become effec-
tive: 

(i) On the date specified in the order 
issued by the Administrative Law 
Judge or Judicial Officer, as applicable, 
or if no date is specified in the order, 
the date that the order was issued. 

(ii) With respect to a settlement 
agreement with FCIC, the date con-
tained in the settlement agreement or, 
if no date is specified, the date that 
such agreement is executed by FCIC. 

(3) Disqualification and civil fines 
may only be imposed if a preponder-
ance of the evidence shows that the 
participant or other person has met the 
standards contained in § 400.454(b). 
FCIC has the burden of proving that 
the standards in § 400.454(b) have been 
met. 

(4) Disqualification and civil fines 
may be imposed regardless of whether 
FCIC or the approved insurance pro-
vider has suffered any monetary losses. 
However, if there is no monetary loss, 
disqualification will only be imposed if 
the violation is material in accordance 
with § 400.454(c). 

(b) Disqualification and civil fines 
may be imposed on any participant or 
person who willfully and intentionally: 

(1) Provides any false or inaccurate 
information to FCIC or to any ap-
proved insurance provider with respect 
to a policy or plan of insurance author-
ized under the Act either through ac-
tion or omission to act when there is 
knowledge that false or inaccurate in-
formation is or will be provided; or 

(2) Fails to comply with a require-
ment of FCIC. 

(c) When imposing any disqualifica-
tion or civil fine: 

(1) The gravity of the violation must 
be considered when determining: 

(i) Whether to disqualify a partici-
pant or other person; 

(ii) The amount of time that a partic-
ipant or other person should be dis-
qualified; 

(iii) Whether to impose a civil fine; 
and 

(iv) The amount of a civil fine that 
should be imposed. 

(2) The gravity of the violation in-
cludes consideration of whether the 
violation was material and if it was 
material: 

(i) The number or frequency of inci-
dents or duration of the violation; 

(ii) Whether there is a pattern or 
prior history of violation; 

(iii) Whether and to what extent the 
person planned, initiated, or carried 
out the violation; 

(iv) Whether the person has accepted 
responsibility for the violation and rec-
ognizes the seriousness of the mis-
conduct that led to the cause for dis-
qualification or civil fine; 

(v) Whether the person has paid all 
civil and administrative liabilities for 
the violation; 

(vi) Whether the person has cooper-
ated fully with FCIC (In determining 
the extent of cooperation, FCIC may 
consider when the cooperation began 
and whether the person disclosed all 
pertinent information known to that 
person at the time); 

(vii) Whether the violation was per-
vasive within the organization; 

(viii) The kind of positions held by 
the persons involved in the violation; 

(ix) Whether the organization took 
prompt, appropriate corrective action 
or remedial measures, such as estab-
lishing ethics training and imple-
menting programs to prevent recur-
rence; 

(x) Whether the principals of the or-
ganization tolerated the offense; 

(xi) Whether the person brought the 
violation to the attention of FCIC in a 
timely manner; 

(xii) Whether the organization had ef-
fective standards of conduct and inter-
nal control systems in place at the 
time the violation occurred; 

(xiii) Whether the organization has 
taken appropriate disciplinary action 
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against the persons responsible for the 
violation; 

(xiv) Whether the organization had 
adequate time to eliminate the viola-
tion that led to the cause for disquali-
fication or civil fine; 

(xv) Other factors that are appro-
priate to the circumstances of a par-
ticular case. 

(3) The maximum term of disquali-
fication and civil fines will be imposed 
against: 

(i) Participants and other persons, 
except insurance providers who: 

(A) Commit multiple violations in 
the same crop year or over several crop 
years; or 

(B) Commit a single violation but 
such violation results in an overpay-
ment of more than $100,000; 

(ii) Approved insurance providers 
who: 

(A) Commit a single violation result-
ing in an overpayment in excess of 
$100,000; and 

(B) Commit multiple acts of viola-
tions resulting in an overpayment in 
excess of $500,000; and 

(iii) Any participant or person who 
commits such other action or omission 
of so serious a nature that imposition 
of the maximum is appropriate. 

(d) With respect to the imputing of 
conduct: 

(1) The conduct of any officer, direc-
tor, shareholder, partner, employee, or 
other individual associated with an or-
ganization, in violation of § 400.454(b) 
may be imputed to that organization 
when such conduct occurred in connec-
tion with the individual’s performance 
of duties for or on behalf of that orga-
nization, or with the organization’s 
knowledge, approval or acquiescence. 
The organization’s acceptance of the 
benefits derived from the violation is 
evidence of knowledge, approval or ac-
quiescence. 

(2) The conduct of any organization 
in violation of § 400.454(b) may be im-
puted to an individual, or from one in-
dividual to another individual, if the 
individual to whom the improper con-
duct is imputed either participated in, 
knows, or had reason to know of such 
conduct. 

(3) The conduct of one organization 
in violation of § 400.454(b) may be im-
puted to another organization when 

such conduct occurred in connection 
with a partnership, joint venture, joint 
application, association or similar ar-
rangement, or when the organization 
to whom the improper conduct is im-
puted has the power to direct, manage, 
control or influence the activities of 
the organization responsible for the 
improper conduct. Acceptance of the 
benefits derived from the conduct is 
evidence of knowledge, approval or ac-
quiescence. 

(4) If such conduct is imputed, the 
person to whom the conduct is imputed 
to may be subject to the same disquali-
fication and civil fines as the person 
from whom the conduct is imputed. 
The factors contained in § 400.454(c)(2) 
will be taken into consideration with 
respect to the person to whom the con-
duct is being imputed. 

(e) With respect to disqualifications: 
(1) If a person is disqualified and that 

person is a: 
(i) Producer, the producer will be pre-

cluded from receiving any monetary or 
non-monetary benefit provided under 
all of the following authorities, or 
their successors: 

(A) The Act; 
(B) The Farm Security and Rural In-

vestment Act of 2002 (7 U.S.C. 7333 et 
seq.) or any successor statute; 

(C) The Agricultural Act of 1949 (7 
U.S.C. 1421 et seq.) or any successor 
statute; 

(D) The Commodity Credit Corpora-
tion Charter Act (15 U.S.C. 714 et seq.) 
or any successor statute; 

(E) The Agricultural Adjustment Act 
of 1938 (7 U.S.C. 1281 et seq.) or any suc-
cessor statute; 

(F) Title XII of the Food Security 
Act of 1985 (16 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.) or any 
successor statute; 

(G) The Consolidated Farm and Rural 
Development Act (7 U.S.C. 1921, et seq.) 
or any successor statute; and 

(H) Any federal law that provides as-
sistance to the producer of an agricul-
tural commodity affected by a crop 
loss or decline in the prices of agricul-
tural commodities. 

(ii) Participant or other person, other 
than a producer, such participant or 
person will be precluded from partici-
pating in any way in the Federal crop 
insurance program and receiving any 
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monetary or non-monetary benefit 
under the Act. 

(2) With respect to the term of dis-
qualification: 

(i) The minimum term will be not 
less than one year from the effective 
date determined in § 400.454(a)(2); 

(ii) The maximum term will be not 
more than five years from the effective 
date determined in § 400.454(a)(2); and 

(iii) Disqualification is to be imposed 
only in one-year increments, up to the 
maximum five years. 

(3) Once a disqualification becomes 
final, the name, address, and other 
identifying information of the partici-
pant or other person shall be entered 
into the Ineligible Tracking System 
(ITS) maintained by FCIC in accord-
ance with 7 CFR part 400, subpart U, 
and this information along with a list 
of the programs that the person is dis-
qualified from shall be promptly re-
ported to the General Services Admin-
istration for listing in the Excluded 
Parties List System (EPLS) in accord-
ance with 7 CFR part 3017, subpart E. 

(i) It is a participant’s responsibility 
to periodically review the ITS and 
EPLS to determine those participants 
and other persons who have been dis-
qualified. 

(ii) No participant may conduct busi-
ness with a disqualified participant or 
other person if such business directly 
relates to the Federal crop insurance 
program, or if, through the business re-
lationship, the disqualified participant 
or other person will derive any mone-
tary or non-monetary benefit from a 
program administered under the Act. 

(iii) If a participant or other person 
does business with a disqualified par-
ticipant or other person, such partici-
pant may be subject to disqualification 
under this section. 

(iv) Continuing to make payments to 
a disqualified person to fulfill pre-ex-
isting contractual or statutory obliga-
tions after the business relationship is 
terminated will not be considered as 
doing business with a disqualified per-
son unless such payment is used as a 
means to circumvent the disqualifica-
tion process. 

(f) With respect to civil fines: 
(1) A civil fine may be imposed for 

each violation. 

(2) The amount of such civil fine 
shall not exceed the greater of: 

(i) The amount of monetary gain, or 
value of the benefit, obtained as a re-
sult of the false or inaccurate informa-
tion provided, or the amount obtained 
as a result of noncompliance with a re-
quirement of FCIC; or 

(ii) $10,000. 
(3) Civil fines are debts owed to FCIC. 
(i) A civil fine that is either imposed 

under with this subpart, or agreed to 
through an executed settlement agree-
ment with FCIC, must be paid by the 
specified due date. If the due date is 
not specified in the order issued by the 
Administrative Law Judge or Judicial 
Officer, as applicable, or the settle-
ment agreement, it shall be 30 days 
after the date the order was issued or 
the settlement agreement signed by 
FCIC. 

(ii) Any civil fine imposed under this 
section is in addition to any debt that 
may be owed to FCIC or to any ap-
proved insurance provider, such an 
overpaid indemnity, underpaid pre-
mium, or other amounts owed. 

(iii) FCIC, in its sole discretion, may 
reduce or otherwise settle any civil 
fine imposed under this section when-
ever it considers it appropriate or in 
the best interest of the USDA. 

(4) The ineligibility procedures estab-
lished in 7 CFR part 400, subpart U are 
not applicable to ineligibility deter-
minations made under this section for 
nonpayment of civil fines. 

(5) If a civil fine has been imposed 
and the person has not made timely 
payment for the total amount due, the 
person is ineligible to participate in 
the Federal crop insurance program 
until the amount due is paid in full. 

(g) With respect to any person that 
has been disqualified or is otherwise in-
eligible due to non-payment of civil 
fines in accordance with § 400.454(f): 

(1) With respect to producers: 
(i) All existing insurance policies will 

automatically terminate as of the next 
termination date that occurs during 
the period of disqualification and while 
the civil fine remains unpaid; 

(ii) No new policies can be purchased, 
and no current policies can be renewed, 
between the date that the producer is 
disqualified and the date that the dis-
qualification ends; and 
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(iii) New application for insurance 
cannot be made for any agricultural 
commodity until the next sales closing 
date after the period of disqualification 
has ended and the civil fine is paid in 
full. 

(2) With respect to all other persons: 
(i) Such person may not be involved 

in any function related to the Federal 
crop insurance program during the dis-
qualification or ineligibility period (in-
cluding the sale, service, adjustment, 
data transmission or storage, reinsur-
ance, etc. of any crop insurance policy) 
or receive any monetary or non-mone-
tary benefit from a program adminis-
tered under the Act. 

(ii) If the person is an agent or insur-
ance agency, the producers may cancel 
their policies sold and serviced by the 
disqualified agent and rewrite the pol-
icy with another agent. If the producer 
does not cancel and rewrite the policy 
with another agent, the approved in-
surance provider must assign the poli-
cies to a different agent or agency to 
service during the period of disquali-
fication or ineligibility. Policies that 
have been assigned to another agent or 
agency by the insurance provider will 
revert back to the disqualified agent or 
agency after the period of disqualifica-
tion has ended provided all civil fines 
are paid in full and the producer does 
not cancel and rewrite the policy with 
a different agent or agency; 

(iii) If the person is an approved in-
surance provider, the approved insur-
ance provider shall not sell, or author-
ize to be sold, any new policies or may 
not renew, or authorize the renewal of, 
existing policies, as determined by 
FCIC, during the period of disqualifica-
tion or ineligibility. Nothing in this 
provision affects the approved insur-
ance provider’s responsibilities with re-
spect to the service of existing policies. 

(h) Imposition of disqualification or a 
civil fine under this section is in addi-
tion to any other administrative or 
legal remedies available under this sec-
tion or other applicable law including, 
but not limited to, debarment and sus-
pension. 

[73 FR 76888, Dec. 18, 2008] 

§ 400.455 Governmentwide debarment 
and suspension (procurement). 

(a) For all transactions undertaken 
pursuant to the Federal Acquisition 
Regulations, FCIC will proceed under 
48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4 or 48 CFR 
part 409 when taking action to suspend 
or debar persons involved in such 
transactions, except that the authority 
to suspend or debar under these provi-
sions will be reserved to the Manager 
of FCIC, or the Manager’s designee. 

(b) Any person suspended or debarred 
under the provisions of 48 CFR part 9, 
subpart 9.4 or 48 CFR part 409 will not 
be eligible to contract with FCIC or the 
Risk Management Agency and will not 
be eligible to participate in or receive 
any benefit from any program under 
the Act during the period of ineligi-
bility. This includes, but is not limited 
to, being employed by or contracting 
with any approved insurance provider 
that sells, services, or adjusts policies 
offered under the authority of the Act. 
FCIC may waive this provision if it is 
satisfied that the person who employs 
the suspended or debarred person has 
taken sufficient action to ensure that 
the suspended or debarred person will 
not be involved, in any way, with FCIC 
or receive any benefit from any pro-
gram under the Act. 

[73 FR 76890, Dec. 18, 2008] 

§ 400.456 Governmentwide debarment 
and suspension (nonprocurement). 

(a) FCIC will proceed under 7 CFR 
part 3017 when taking action to sus-
pend or debar persons involved in non- 
procurement transactions. 

(b) Any person suspended or debarred 
under the provisions of 7 CFR part 3017, 
will not be eligible to contract with 
FCIC or the Risk Management Agency 
and will not be eligible to participate 
in or receive any benefit from any pro-
gram under the Act during the period 
of ineligibility. This includes, but is 
not limited to, being employed by or 
contracting with any approved insur-
ance provider, or its contractors, that 
sell, service, or adjust policies either 
insured or reinsured by FCIC. FCIC 
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